MassSpecGym: Supplementary information

Roman Bushuiev^{1,2}, Anton Bushuiev², Niek F. de Jonge³, Adamo Young⁴, Fleming Kretschmer⁵, Raman Samusevich^{1,2}, Janne Heirman⁶, Fei Wang^{7,8}, Luke Zhang⁹, Kai Dührkop⁵, Marcus Ludwig¹⁰, Nils A. Haupt⁵, Apurva Kalia¹¹, Corinna Brungs¹, Robin Schmid¹, Russell Greiner^{7,8}, Bo Wang⁴, David S. Wishart^{7,12}, Li-Ping Liu¹¹, Juho Rousu¹³, Wout Bittremieux⁶, Hannes Rost⁹, Tytus D. Mak¹⁴, Soha Hassoun^{11,15}, Florian Huber¹⁶, Justin J.J. van der Hooft^{3,17}, Michael A. Stravs¹⁸, Sebastian Böcker⁵, Josef Sivic², Tomáš Pluskal¹

¹Institute of Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry of the Czech Academy of Sciences,
 ²Czech Institute of Informatics, Robotics and Cybernetics, Czech Technical University,
 ³Bioinformatics Group, Wageningen University & Research, ⁴Department of Computer Science, University of Toronto, ⁵Chair for Bioinformatics, Institute for Computer Science,
 ⁷Department of computing science, University of Alberta, ⁸Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute,
 ⁹Department of Molecular Genetics, University of Toronto, ¹⁰Bright Giant GmbH, ¹¹Department of Computer Science, Tufts University, ¹²Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta, ¹³Department of Computer Science, Aalto University, ¹⁴Mass Spectrometry Data Center, National Institute of Standards and Technology, ¹⁵Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Tufts University, ¹⁶Centre for Digitalisation and Digitality, University of Applied Sciences Düsseldorf, ¹⁷Department of Biochemistry, University of Johannesburg, ¹⁸Eawag: Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology

Contents

1	Data	aset and code access	2
	1.1	Availability	2
	1.2	Variable list	2
	1.3	Dataset Applications	2
	1.4	Target Audiences	3
2	Mas	sSpecGym benchmark construction	4
	2.1	Definition of challenges	4
	2.2	Data collection	5
	2.3	Data cleaning	6
	2.4	Data standardization	8
	2.5	Data splitting	9
	2.6	Auxiliary unlabeled datasets	10
	2.7	Dataset limitations	12
3	Eva	luation of baselines	13

38th Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems (NeurIPS 2024) Track on Datasets and Benchmarks.

	3.1	De novo molecule generation	13
	3.2	Molecule retrieval	14
	3.3	Spectrum simulation	16
		3.3.1 Jensen-Shannon Similarity Metric	18
	3.4	Extended results	19
4	Bacl	kground on mass spectrometry	20
	4.1	Small molecules	20
	4.2	Tandem mass spectrometry	21
5	Data	asheet	24
5	Data 5.1	asheet Motivation	24 24
5	2		- ·
5	5.1	Motivation	24
5	5.1 5.2	Motivation	24 24
5	5.1 5.2 5.3	Motivation	24 24 25
5	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	Motivation	24 24 25 26

1 Dataset and code access

1.1 Availability

Following the NeurIPS Dataset and Benchmark Track guidelines, we have made our dataset publicly available under the MIT license. The dataset and its Croissant metadata record can be accessed through the Hugging Face Hub. Furthermore, we have made the code for dataset construction, analysis, reproduction of all our experiments, and evaluation of new models available on GitHub under the MIT license. Figure 1 provides an overview of the MassSpecGym infrastructure. We bear all responsibility in case of any violation of rights.

- MassSpecGym dataset: https://huggingface.co/datasets/roman-bushuiev/MassSpecGym.
- MassSpecGym code: https://github.com/pluskal-lab/MassSpecGym.

1.2 Variable list

Table 1 outlines the structure of our MassSpecGym dataset and provides the list of all variables along with their descriptions. Figure 2 explains the key relationship between the main variables of individual samples: multiple spectra with different metadata, measured under varying experimental setups, may be annotated with the same molecule.

1.3 Dataset Applications

The primary goal of MassSpecGym is to identify the most effective machine learning models for the annotation of MS/MS spectra with molecular structures. Our benchmark, which defines a generalization-demanding data split and practically-motivated evaluation metrics, ensures that models performing well on MassSpecGym can be effectively applied to real-world, unannotated data. Ultimately, MassSpecGym paves the way for new biological and chemical discoveries by stimulating advances in the annotation of MS/MS spectra. On the other hand, *de novo* molecule generation serves



Figure 1: MassSpecGym enables a standardized and user-friendly evaluation of machine learning methods for MS/MS annotation via an easily extendable modular interface. The dataset can be loaded, preprocessed, split, and utilized for training, evaluation, and metric logging through the prepared codebase. To develop and evaluate a new model, a user only needs to implement a forward pass with custom prediction logic. Colored blocks represent classes in our codebase (https://github.com/pluskal-lab/MassSpecGym). Arrows with empty heads represent subclass inheritance, while arrows with bold heads conceptually show the flow from the dataset to the evaluation metrics.

Table 1: **Overview of all variables present in the MassSpecGym dataset.** *n* denotes the number of signals in a spectrum. Floating point variables were rounded to four decimal places for computing the number of unique entries. The key variables in the MassSpecGym dataset are mzs and intensities representing an input spectrum, and smiles, representing the target molecule.

Variable	Description	Data type	Num. unique values	Example
identifier	Unique entry identifier	string	231,104	MassSpecGymID0088683
mzs	Array of spectrum m/z values	$n \times float$	231,104	[55.0542, 57.0699,, 238.0995]
intensities	Array of spectrum intensities	$n \times \text{float}$	231,104	[0.0240, 1.0, , 0.5356]
smiles	SMILES string of molecule	string	31,602	CCCCOCN(C1=C(C=CCCl
inchikey	2D InChI key	string	28,929	HKPHPIREJKHECO
formula	Chemical formula of molecule	string	17,634	C17H26ClNO2
precursor_formula	Chemical formula of precursor ion	string	21,653	C17H27CINO2
parent mass	Mass of molecule	float	32,228	311.1652
precursor_mz	M/z of precursor ion	float	32,275	312.1725
adduct	Ionization adduct	string	2	[M+H]+
instrument_type	Type of MS instrument	string	2	Orbitrap
collision_energy	Energy of CID fragmentation	float	9,737	30.0
fold	Split fold which entry belongs to	string	3	train
simulation_challenge	Entry is used for simulation challenge	boolean	2	True

as a benchmark for evaluating novel generative modeling algorithms. With the rapid advancements in the field of deep generative modeling, our benchmark provides a rigorous case study to assess their capabilities. Similarly, the molecule retrieval challenge acts as a benchmark for evaluating information retrieval algorithms. The spectrum simulation benchmark has the potential to provide insights into the mechanisms of MS/MS fragmentation, thereby deepening our understanding of the underlying processes in analytical chemistry.

1.4 Target Audiences

MassSpecGym aims to democratize and popularize the challenge of annotating molecular structures from MS/MS spectra. Our platform targets two primary audiences:

- Machine learning community: Researchers and developers specializing in creating new machine learning algorithms, who may not necessarily have a background in mass spectrometry or other fields of chemistry.
- Metabolomics community: Scientists and professionals specializing in mass spectrometryrelated fields, such as natural product chemists, who can utilize models trained on MassSpecGym and apply insights from the MassSpecGym results to their research problems.



Figure 2: Same measured molecule may result in different MS/MS spectra under different mass spectrometry measurement conditions. a, The distribution of the number of spectra corresponding to the same molecule in the MassSpecGym dataset. b, Example of a molecule annotating 321 spectra in the dataset. c, Examples of six spectra annotated with the molecule shown in figure b: different instrument types and collision energies lead to different spectra. Higher collision energies typically lead to richer fragmentation of a molecule, resulting in a higher number of peaks in the spectrum.

MassSpecGym streamlines the cleaning and pre-processing of data, removing the necessity for specialized mass spectrometry expertise. This makes the platform accessible to a wider audience, including those who may not have access to extensive computational resources for collecting and cleaning large-scale data (e.g., large unlabeled datasets provided in our benchmark).

2 MassSpecGym benchmark construction

This section provides details on the construction of the MassSpecGym benchmark that are not covered in the main text.

2.1 Definition of challenges

Morgan fingerprint. A Morgan fingerprint [1] is a set of structural features of a molecule. For machine learning purposes, it is typically represented as a bit vector, where each bit indicates the presence of a specific fragment in the molecule. The dimensionality of a Morgan fingerprint refers to the number of bits in the vector, usually set to a fixed size such as 2048 or 4096 bits. An additional parameter of the Morgan fingerprint is its radius. The radius specifies the number of steps (or bonds) to consider from each atom when generating the fingerprint, with a common choice being a radius of 2, which considers all the neighbors up to two bonds away for each atom. This helps capture the local structural environment around each atom within the molecule. Further, we denote a Morgan fingerprint of a molecular graph G, representing a sets of it structural features, as fingerprint(G).

Tanimoto Similarity Tanimoto similarity measures the similarity between two molecular graphs G_1, G_2 using their Morgan fingerprints. It is defined as the intersection over union of the two corresponding fingerprints:

$$Tanimoto(G_1, G_2) = \frac{|fingerprint(G_1) \cap fingerprint(G_2)|}{|fingerprint(G_1) \cup fingerprint(G_2)|}.$$
(1)

The Tanimoto similarity score ranges from 0 to 1, with 1 indicating identical structures. However, in rare cases, non-identical structures can also produce a similarity score of 1 due to fingerprint collisions. A similarity value above 0.85 has been previously used in several studies as a threshold for identifying compounds with similar activity [2].

MCES distance. To measure similarity between two molecular structures, additional to the Tanimoto similarity, the Maximum Common Edge Subgraph (MCES) distance is used on the molecular graphs [3]. MCES distance can be understood as an edit distance on graphs, representing the minimum

number of edges that have to be removed for both graphs to be isomorphic, ignoring singleton nodes. This measure of molecular similarity provides better interpretability than the Tanimoto similarity and more accurately reflects the biochemical modifications of molecules. Formally, given two graphs $G_1 = (V_1, E_1)$ and $G_2 = (V_2, E_2)$, where V_1, V_2 are the sets of vertices and E_1, E_2 are the sets of edges, the maximum common edge subgraph $G_c = (V_c, E_c), V_c \subseteq V_i, E_c \subseteq E_i$ for both $i \in \{1, 2\}$ is a graph that maximizes $|E_c|$. The MCES distance is then defined as

$$MCES(G_1, G_2) = |E_1| + |E_2| - 2|E_c|,$$
(2)

which is minimized by the maximum common edge subgraph. We use the myopicMCES implementation (https://github.com/AlBi-HHU/myopic-mces), which computes the exact distance below a specified threshold and a guaranteed lower bound above; the distance is weighted by bond order. Unless otherwise stated, we use a threshold of 15 and enable the always_stronger_bound option (default) which always computes a stronger lower bound first despite higher computational demand.

2.2 Data collection

Public repositories. The mass spectral data is composed of various LC-MS/MS databases and datasets, which were downloaded on May 27th, 2024, from:

- MoNA [4] downloaded from https://mona.fiehnlab.ucdavis.edu/downloads
- Massbank [5] downloaded from https://github.com/MassBank/MassBank-data/releases
- GNPS [6] The following libraries were downloaded from https://gnpsexternal.ucsd.edu/gnpslibrary
 - BERKELEY-LAB.mgf
 - BILELIB19.mgf
 - BIRMINGHAM-UHPLC-MS-NEG.mgf
 - BIRMINGHAM-UHPLC-MS-POS.mgf
 - BMDMS-NP.mgf
 - CASMI.mgf
 - DRUGS-OF-ABUSE-LIBRARY.mgf
 - ECG-ACYL-AMIDES-C4-C24-LIBRARY.mgf
 - ECG-ACYL-ESTERS-C4-C24-LIBRARY.mgf
 - GNPS-COLLECTIONS-MISC.mgf
 - GNPS-COLLECTIONS-PESTICIDES-NEGATIVE.mgf
 - GNPS-COLLECTIONS-PESTICIDES-POSITIVE.mgf
 - GNPS-D2-AMINO-LIPID-LIBRARY.mgf
 - GNPS-EMBL-MCF.mgf
 - GNPS-FAULKNERLEGACY.mgf
 - GNPS-IOBA-NHC.mgf
 - GNPS-LIBRARY.mgf
 - GNPS-MSMLS.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-CLINICALCOLLECTION1.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-CLINICALCOLLECTION2.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-NATURALPRODUCTSLIBRARY.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-NATURALPRODUCTSLIBRARY_ROUND2_NEGATIVE.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-NATURALPRODUCTSLIBRARY_ROUND2_POSITIVE.mgf
 - GNPS-NIH-SMALLMOLECULEPHARMACOLOGICALLYACTIVE.mgf
 - GNPS-NIST14-MATCHES.mgf
 - GNPS-NUTRI-METAB-FEM-NEG.mgf
 - GNPS-NUTRI-METAB-FEM-POS.mgf
 - GNPS-PRESTWICKPHYTOCHEM.mgf
 - GNPS-SAM-SIK-KANG-LEGACY-LIBRARY.mgf
 - GNPS-SCIEX-LIBRARY.mgf

- GNPS-SELLECKCHEM-FDA-PART1.mgf
- GNPS-SELLECKCHEM-FDA-PART2.mgf
- HCE-CELL-LYSATE-LIPIDS.mgf
- HMDB.mgf
- IQAMDB.mgf
- LDB_NEGATIVE.mgf
- LDB_POSITIVE.mgf
- MIADB.mgf
- MMV_NEGATIVE.mgf
- MMV_POSITIVE.mgf
- PNNL-LIPIDS-NEGATIVE.mgf
- PNNL-LIPIDS-POSITIVE.mgf
- PSU-MSMLS.mgf
- RESPECT.mgf
- SUMNER.mgf
- UM-NPDC.mgf

In-house data. In-house spectral libraries were acquired for four different compound libraries, including the Bioactive Compound Library and the 5k Scaffold Library from MedChemExpress, the NIH NPAC ACONN collection of Natural Products from NIH/NCATS, and the Alpha-helix Peptidomimetic Library from OTAVAchemicals, resulting in almost 20,000 unique compounds. Up to 10 compounds were pooled in one well of 96 or 384 well plates and diluted to reach a concentration between 5-20 μ M. A flow injection method was performed by a Vanquish Duo UHPLC system coupled to an Orbitrap ID-X instrument. 2 μ L injection volume was used. The m/z range for MS¹ was set to 115 to 2000 with a resolution of 30,000. The three most intense ions were picked by data-dependent acquisition for MS² experiments with a resolution of 15,000. Detailed information about the data acquisition can be found in [7]. We used the following files downloaded from https://zenodo.org/records/11163381.

- 20231031_nihnp_library_neg_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20231130_mcescaf_library_neg_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20231130_otavapep_library_neg_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20240411_mcebio_library_neg_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20231031_nihnp_library_pos_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20231130_mcescaf_library_pos_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20231130_otavapep_library_pos_all_lib_MSn.mgf
- 20240411_mcebio_library_pos_all_lib_MSn.mgf

2.3 Data cleaning

To clean the collected dataset, we applied spectrum-based filtering and metadata-based filtering using the matchms package [8], as well as spectral quality-based filtering utilizing SIRIUS software [9] and the NIST20 spectral library [10]. The following subsections describe the individual steps. The reduction in the number of mass spectra after each filtering step is summarized in Table 2, following the matchms cleaning report format.

Spectrum-based filtering. Noise was detected and removed by first searching for multiple identical intensity values and then using the associated intensity value multiplied by 2 as a minimum intensity threshold. Spectra that contained more than 300 or less than 1 fragment after noise removal were discarded. Spectra with patterns that suggested that they were stored as profile spectra were also removed. It is not uncommon to depose data in multiple databases; therefore, duplicates, i.e. spectra with identical annotation and a cosine score of 1.0, were removed. We removed all entries with precursor m/z values above 1,000 Da. Additionally, we dropped all spectra containing at least one signal with an m/z value above the precursor m/z value + 3 and an intensity value above 20% of the highest intensity within the spectrum.

Metadata-based filtering. The spectra from public libraries have a high diversity of metadata formats and often have missing or incorrect metadata. The metadata was largely processed using default settings as described in [11] with the full workflow being provided on https://github.com/pluskal-lab/MassSpecGym/blob/main/notebooks/dataset_construction.

First all merged spectra in the MS/MS library from Brungs et al. [7] were removed.

Metadata fields were harmonized to have the same field names. Metadata in the wrong field was corrected. Annotations were completed, to have a SMILES, InChI and InChIKey. Missing parent masses were derived from the SMILES mass and missing adducts were derived from the precursor m/z and parent mass. Only spectra where the parent mass calculated from the adduct and precursor m/z matched the given parent mass and SMILES mass were stored.

Annotations were derived from the compound name by searching on PubChem. Spectra were removed if the mono-isomeric mass of the SMILES did not match the parent mass given in the metadata. Annotations which corresponded to a charged molecule were removed. The formula and precursor formula were derived from the SMILES. Additionally, entries with molecules containing rare chemical elements Sn and A1 were removed.

For spectra to be technically comparable we limited the data to LC-MS/MS spectra measured in positive electrospray ionization (ESI) mode, attributable to Orbitrap-type (Orbitrap, ITFT, QFT) or QTOF-type instruments (see below). We further only retained spectra of two adducts, [M+H]+ or [M+Na]+, to reduce additional biases.

Next, we removed all structures that are disconnected (i.e. containing a '.' within the SMILES string). These structures usually belong to salts or metal-containing compounds which are not measured in this form in mass spectrometry. We ended up with 414,049 spectra with proper metadata annotation.

Quality assessment and filtering. When collecting data from a large number of publicly accessible repositories, it is important to consider that some, or even many, of the data might be incorrectly annotated. This issue arises because not all spectra originate from reference measurements; many spectra are annotated via spectral library searches or computational tools before being uploaded to public repositories. In the following analysis, we aim to remove compounds from the training data if there is uncertainty about their correct labeling.

One straightforward check is to count how many peaks, or how much intensity, can be explained by fragment ions whose molecular formulas are subsets of the parent molecule's formula. We use SIRIUS [9] to decompose all peaks in the spectra and remove any spectra from the dataset that explain less than 50% of the total intensity. To prevent a single large, intense peak from dominating the statistics, we apply a square root transformation to all peak intensities (here and in all subsequent filtering steps). We removed 135,190 spectra using this method. Although this number seems high, it only accounts for 926 unique molecular structures. Additionally, we found that the majority of the removed spectra did not contain a single peak that could be explained with a molecular formula subset of the parent molecule.

Next, we compared the spectra against the NIST20 [10] library – a commercially available, highquality, manually curated spectral library. We found that one third of the structures are contained in both spectral libraries. For 14,600 spectra (38 unique structures), there was not a single peak (beyond the parent peak) shared with the NIST spectra of the same molecular structure. For an additional 9,290 spectra, the maximum cosine similarity with any NIST spectrum of the same structure was below 0.2, or there were fewer than 5 shared peaks. We removed these spectra; again, the number of removed structures was much lower, with only 126 structures removed.

Finally, we compared all spectra of the same structure within our dataset pairwise to identify outliers. We only considered structures with at least 4 spectra and removed 11,740 spectra for which the maximum cosine similarity to any other spectra of the same structure was lower than 0.2. We used such a conservative threshold to avoid removing spectra solely because they were measured at a very different collision energy than the other spectra.

In total, we are left with 231,104 spectra. A manual examination of a small random subset of the removed spectra found all of them at least "suspicious," with many clearly being wrongly annotated.

For each of these remaining spectra, we additionally provide fragment peak-molecular formula annotations in the form of fragmentation trees [12, 13, 14]. Each fragmentation tree annotates the

Table 2: **Summary of our data cleaning pipeline.** The rows in the table provide a report on the number of removed spectra, the number of spectra with modified metadata, and the number of spectra that were removed after each filtering step. The filtering steps were applied sequentially from top to bottom, as listed in the table. A horizontal rule separates the matchms filters from the additional filters that were applied beyond matchms.

Filter	Removed spectra	Changed metadata	Changed mass spectrum
add_parent_mass	0	699,187	0
add_precursor_formula	0	464,082	0
add_retention_index	0	706,484	0
add_retention_time	0	552,948	0
clean_adduct	0	8,102	0
clean_compound_name	0	104,201	0
correct_charge	0	322,993	0
derive_adduct_from_name	0	376,859	0
derive_annotation_from_compound_name	0	53,716	0
derive_formula_from_name	0	47,156	0
derive_formula_from_smiles	0	293,157	0
derive_inchi_from_smiles	0	42,470	0
derive_inchikey_from_inchi	0	413,405	0
derive_ionmode	0	137,815	0
derive_smiles_from_inchi	0	38,547	0
harmonize_instrument_types	0	294,479	0
harmonize_undefined_inchi	0	117,746	0
harmonize_undefined_inchikey	0	467,179	0
harmonize undefined smiles	0	114,075	0
normalize_intensities	0	Ó	513,299
remove_charged_molecules	4,776	0	0
remove instrument types	13,481	0	0
remove noise below frequent intensities	0	0	64,805
remove_not_ms2_spectra	628,478	0	0
repair_adduct_based_on_smiles	0	305,728	0
repair_inchi_inchikey_smiles	0	33,319	0
repair_not_matching_annotation	0	1,695	0
repair smiles of salts	0	6,596	0
require adduct in list	41,049	0	0
require_correct_ionmode	153,321	0	0
require_formula_match_parent_mass	152	0	0
require_matching_adduct_precursor_mz_parent_mass	3,726	0	0
require_minimum_number_of_peaks	1,357	0	0
require_number_of_peaks_below_maximum	880	0	0
require_parent_mass_match_smiles	8,694	0	0
require_precursor_mz	7,291	0	0
require_valid_annotation	22,036	0	0
store_relevant_metadata_only	0	449,721	0
make charge int	0	0	0
add_compound_name	0	0	0
interpret_pepmass	ů ů	Ő	0
add_precursor_mz	ů ů	Ő	0
require_matching_adduct_and_ionmode	0	0	0
Remove salts	3,819	0	
< 50% explained intensity by molecular formula decomposition	135,190	0	0
No peaks shared with NIST spectrum	14,699	0	0
Cosine similarity against NIST < 0.2	9,290	0	0
Cosine similarity against NIST < 0.2	9,290	U	0

fragment peaks of the corresponding MS/MS spectrum with sub-formulas of the parent's molecular formula. These fragmentation trees were computed using SIRIUS (version 6.0.4) with default parameter settings.

Subsetting spectra for the spectrum simulation challenge. Since instrument type and collision energy are required inputs for the spectrum simulation challenge, we consider only a subset of the MassSpecGym dataset for this challenge. We note that in this dataset, 98% percent of entries contain the [M+H]+ adduct. Therefore, we additionally removed the other 2% of entries with the [M+Na]+ ionization adduct for the simulation challenge. The boolean mask for this subset is stored in the dataset under the variable named simulation_challenge.

2.4 Data standardization

Spectrum standardization. We standardize all MS/MS spectra to have relative intensity values. Specifically, for each MS/MS spectrum, we divide each intensity value by the maximum intensity

within that spectrum. This normalization process ensures that the spectra are comparable regardless of their absolute intensity values, which can vary due to differing MS experimental conditions.

Instrument standardization. Instrument type descriptions were standardized based on the fixed vocabulary for instrument types of the MassBank record format (https://github.com/MassBank/MassBank-web/blob/dev/Documentation/MassBankRecordFormat.md#2.4.2) as a basis. For records originating from MassBank or having an instrument type description matching a MassBank notation (e.g., LC-ESI-ITFT), the instrument type was retained. For all other records, a mapping was manually generated from the unique values for instrument types in GNPS records. Explicitly specified instrument names were assigned to the code for their instrument types. Clearly nonsensical entries (e.g., ESI-LC-ESI-IT, which has two ionization mechanism tags) were mapped to the most plausible explanation (here, LC-ESI-IT). Some entries are imprecise and therefore ambiguous. In particular, Orbitrap may either correspond to ITFT or QFT. Finally, for the purpose of the final dataset, only the analyzer type is relevant to the measured data. Therefore, in the dataset, only the analyzer type is represents all instruments based on a quadrupole-time of flight analyzer and Orbitrap represents all instruments with an Orbitrap-type analyzer.

Collision energy standardization. The provided collision energies were standardized to appropriately handle normalization. Collision energy normalization is way of representing the fragmentation energy that accounts for the mass of the precursor ion. Assuming the precursor p is singly charged (which was the case for the spectra in our dataset, since we removed all spectra whose adducts were not [M+H]+ or [M+Na]+), the non-normalized collision energy CE(p) can be calculated from the normalized collision energy NCE(p) and the associated precursor m/z m(p) using Equation 3.

$$CE(p) = \frac{m(p) \times NCE(p)}{500}$$
(3)

This transformation was applied to all collision energies that were identified as normalized. In cases of ambiguity, we assumed that the provided collision energy was not normalized.

Molecular structure standardization. Finally, the molecular structures of all data sets were standardized with respect to their corresponding SMILES strings in order to have a unified and unique representation of compound structures. SMILES were standardized using the PubChem standardization service accessed through the standardizeUtils python package (https://github.com/boecker-lab/standardizeUtils), which utilizes the PubChem Power User Gateway (PUG) [15]. To facilitate standardization of newly generated compounds, this is also directly possible from MassSpecGym. Compounds whose SMILES representation failed standardization were discarded.

2.5 Data splitting

To obtain the training-validation-test split, we apply an MCES-based clustering technique. First, we compute the matrix of pairwise MCES distances between all molecules in the dataset with unique PubChemstandardized SMILES strings. Here, MCES distances are computed using the threshold of 10 with the always_stronger_bound option disabled. Then, we use this matrix to perform agglomerative clustering with the minimum distance as the cluster linkage criterion. Clusters are linked together only if the minimum distance is lower than 10. Specifically, we use the following initialization of the agglomerative clustering from the scikit-learn Python

Table 2: Composition of the dataset split with respect to the number of distinct spectra, molecules, and MCES-based clusters. The subtable below "All metadata available" describes the simulation challenge subset.

	Num. spectra	Num. molecules	Num. clusters
Training	194,119 (84%)	25,046 (79%)	3,061 (41%)
Validation	19,429 (8%)	3,386 (11%)	2,221 (30%)
Testing	17,556 (8%)	3,170 (10%)	2,202 (29%)
All metadata available			
Training	101,573 (84%)	13,543 (74%)	2,628 (41%)
Validation	9,975 (8%)	2,445 (13%)	1,917 (30%)
Testing	10,159 (8%)	2,417 (13%)	1,907 (30%)

package [17]: AgglomerativeClustering(metric="precomputed", linkage="single",



Figure 3: MCES-based metadata-stratified data split results in a balanced composition of metadata across data folds. a, Example of an MCES cluster of size six. b, Number of spectra in each fold in the dataset with respect to different metadata properties. c, Same as b, but for the subset of the dataset with no missing metadata. This subset is used for the spectrum simulation challenge.

distance_threshold=10, n_clusters=None). Figure 3a shows an example of a cluster. We leverage the computed clusters as groups for the StratifiedGroupKFold splitting algorithm, assigning each molecule to one of the three folds. We use the concatenated string representations of ionization adducts, collision energies, instrument types, and the numbers of spectra per molecule as the stratification labels.

Since the majority (65%) of molecules formed a single cluster, the initial splitting resulted in a 74%-13%-13% composition of training-validation-test folds in terms of the number of dataset entries (i.e., spectra) and a 65%-18%-17% composition in terms of molecular structures. Such proportions are generally acceptable for the training-validation-test split. However, we found that the resultant split underrepresents molecules in the training dataset when considering a subset with all metadata available (55%-22%-22%), as required for the simulation challenge. To address this issue, we reassigned randomly sampled validation and testing clusters to the training fold to obtain a more balanced composition of the split with respect to molecular structures (74%-13%-13%). Table 2 shows the final proportions after the reassignment. Figure 3b and Figure 3c show the balanced proportions of metadata values across folds for the full dataset and the metadata-complete subset respectively. Figure 4 shows the balanced distribution of chemical classes across the entire dataset.

2.6 Auxiliary unlabeled datasets

Additionally, as a part of our MassSpecGym dataset, we provide curated unlabeled datasets of mass spectra and molecules. For the mass spectra, we provide the GeMS-A10 dataset, a deduplicated collection of 24 million high-quality mass spectra mined from the MassIVE GNPS repository [18]. As detailed in the main text, for the molecules, we provide three datasets of increasing size and decreasing relevance for mass spectrometry applications: a 1-million set [3] and a 4-million set [19] of biologically significant molecules, and all 118 million molecules (as of May 31, 2024) from PubChem [20].

We use the sets of molecules to construct retrieval candidates for the challenges of molecule retrieval and spectrum simulation. The procedure is outlined in Algorithm 1. The algorithm iteratively samples candidates from given molecular databases that are similar to the query molecule until the maximum number of candidates is reached. The similarity is measured either by similar mass (up



Figure 4: **MCES-based metadata-stratified data splitting results in a balanced distribution of chemical classes across data folds.** The figure presents a histogram of the 50 most common chemical classes according to ClassyFire [16], found in MassSpecGym, with a separate bar for all less common classes, labeled as "Other (254 classes)". The box with an arrow pointing to this bar shows the number of classes uniquely present in individual folds, along with the number of underlying molecules.

to experimental error) for the standard challenges, or identical formula for the bonus challenges. In practice, we use the three chemical databases mentioned above as \mathcal{D} and the maximum number of candidates |C| = 256. The statistics and examples of retrieval candidates are visualized in Figure 5.

When developing new methods that leverage unlabeled data, we anticipate that users will rely solely on the following two datasets: the GeMS-A10 dataset of unlabeled MS/MS spectra and a refined subset of the unlabeled 4 million-molecule dataset. The molecular dataset has been refined by excluding any molecules with an MCES distance of less than two from any molecule in the test fold of MassSpecGym. This refinement is intended to reduce the potential for data leakage, particularly when used in the context of the *de novo* generation challenge.



Figure 5: **Overview of molecule retrieval candidates. a**, The distributions of the number of retrieval candidates per molecule in the MassSpecGym dataset. The left histogram corresponds to candidates for the main molecule retrieval challenge, where the candidates are selected to have a mass similar to the query molecule, and the right histogram corresponds to the chemical formula bonus challenge, where candidates are restricted to having the same formula as the query molecule. Most of the molecules (87% and 66% respectively) have the predefined maximum number of 256 candidates. b, Example of a molecule having 256 both mass-based and formula-based candidates. c, Ten randomly sampled mass-based candidates for the molecule shown in figure b. d, Ten randomly sampled formula-based candidates for the molecule shown in figure b. The numbers below the molecules show their mass (in Daltons).

2.7 Dataset limitations

MassSpecGym aims to make machine learning applied to MS/MS spectra accessible to the machine learning community and rigorously standardized. To achieve this, we had to make certain simplifications that inherently limit MassSpecGym. For example, we focused exclusively on MS/MS spectra acquired in positive ionization mode, retained only spectra with the most common ionization adducts and with singly-charged ions, and sought to eliminate noisy spectra. However, this approach does not

Algorithm 1 Construction of retrieval candidates

Require: Query molecule q, kind of candidates $kind \in \{mass, formula\}$, list of chemical databases with increasing significance \mathcal{D} to sample candidates from, maximum number of candidates NEnsure: Candidate set \mathcal{C}

```
\mathcal{C} \leftarrow \{q\}
if |\mathcal{C}| = N then
     return C
end if
for D \in \mathcal{D} do
     if kind = mass then
           \epsilon \leftarrow mass(q) \times 10 \times 10^{-6}
                                                                                                   > 10 parts per million (ppm)
           \mathcal{C} \leftarrow \mathcal{C} \cup \{c \in D \mid |mass(c) - mass(q)| < \epsilon \land inchi2d(c) \neq inchi2d(q)\}
      else if kind = formula then
           \mathcal{C} \leftarrow \mathcal{C} \cup \{c \in D \mid formula(c) = formula(q) \land inchi2d(c) \neq inchi2d(q)\}
      end if
end for
\mathcal{C} \leftarrow \mathcal{C}[:N]
                                                                                           \triangleright Get first N elements added to C
return C
```

fully reflect real-world scenarios where a significant portion of spectra may be instrument noise or acquired in different settings. Additionally, we were unable to adequately address certain types of noise, such as isotope signals in MS/MS spectra or chimeric spectra representing multiple molecules, due to the lack of appropriate metadata in public spectral libraries. Our dataset is also combined from highly heterogeneous and imbalanced spectral libraries, which may pose challenges when training machine learning models. Finally, our work is solely focused on MS/MS spectra, not considering other types of spectra, such as electron ionization (EI) or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra.

3 Evaluation of baselines

In this section, we present a detailed description of the architectures, loss functions, and hyperparameter configurations for each model. Unless stated otherwise, we train the models using all possible combinations of hyperparameters and select the best model for testing based on the minimum validation loss. To prevent overfitting, training is stopped if there is no improvement in validation loss over the last three validation epochs. Unless specified, we train the models on four AMD MI250X GPUs (8 PyTorch devices) using the distributed data parallel (DDP) mode.

3.1 De novo molecule generation

Random chemical generation. The goal of the challenge is to assess the capabilities of predictive models to extract information about molecules from their mass spectra. A potential failure mode for these models is to ignore the input mass spectra and generate molecules solely from prior chemical knowledge. To address this risk, we implement a baseline that generates molecular structures using only prior chemical knowledge.

In detail, the baseline consists of combinatorial and graph algorithms. It begins by identifying a chemical formula from the training data with the closest molecular weight. Then, the procedure iterates over plausible combinations of atom valence assignments that satisfy the selected chemical formula and can form a feasible combination of covalent and coordinate bonds in a molecule. Finally, through random graph traversal, we generate a connected molecular structure that respects the assigned atomic properties (valence and charge). Additionally, the baseline samples the edges in molecules based on the edge distribution observed in the training data structures.

SMILES Transformer. The SMILES Transformer model uses a standard encoder-decoder architecture [21] with post-norm and is trained using standard teacher forcing method. The input is given by 2D continuous tokens capturing m/z and intensity values of the spectrum peaks. Additionally, we add a token representing precursor m/z with a dummy intensity equal to 1.1. We linearly project the tokens to have dimensions corresponding to the hidden dimension of the model. The output SMILES

Table 3: **Hyperparameter grid explored for SMILES Transformer and SELFIES Transformer on the** *de novo* **generation challenge.** The optimal values, leading to the minimum validation loss, are highlighted in bold. For the bonus chemical formulae challenge, we use the same hyperparameters.

Hyperparameter	Values (SMILES Transformer)	Values (SELFIES Transformer)
Learning rate	$3 \cdot 10^{-4}, 1 \cdot 10^{-4}, 5 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$3 \cdot 10^{-4}, 1 \cdot 10^{-4}, 5 \cdot 10^{-5}$
Batch size (per GPU)	64, 128	64, 128
k predictions	10	10
Transformer hidden dimensionality	256 , 512	256 , 512
Number of attention heads	4,8	4, 8
Number of encoder layers	3 , 6	3, 6
Sampling temperature	0.8, 1.0 , 1.2	1.0

Table 4: **Hyperparameter grid explored for Fingerprint FFN on the molecule retrieval challenge.** The optimal values, leading to the minimum validation loss, are highlighted in bold. For the bonus chemical formulae challenge, the optimal hyperparameters remain the same, except for an increased batch size of 64.

Hyperparameter	Values
Learning rate Batch size (per GPU) Hidden dimensionality Number of layers Dropout	$ \begin{vmatrix} 3 \cdot 10^{-4}, 1 \cdot \mathbf{10^{-3}} \\ 16, 64, 128 \\ 128, 1024 \\ 3, 7 \\ 0.0, 0.1 \end{vmatrix} $

is postprocessed using a byte-pair encoder [22] to increase the chance of generating valid molecules. The byte-pair encoder is trained on the 4M set of molecules discussed in Section 2.6. We use greedy decoding by sampling each token from the predicted distribution over the softmax vocabulary with a given temperature to predict k samples for each input. For early stopping, we monitor the validation loss once per epoch. The training of the best model took 24 epochs (1 hour) in total. Hyperparameters used in the model are listed in Table 3.

For the bonus chemical formulae challenge, we slightly modify the model to condition it on the chemical formula of a target molecule. Specifically, we feed the formula into the encoder alongside the MS/MS spectrum using an additional feed-forward network. This network maps the vectorized chemical formula (where each element represents the count of a specific chemical element) to the transformer's hidden dimensionality. The output from this network is then added to the embedding of each token before it enters the transformer layers. We use a single hidden layer with a dimensionality matching the number of considered chemical elements, which is 118.

SELFIES Transformer. The SELFIES Transformer model follows the same implementation as the SMILES Transformer, with the exception of using SELFIES molecular string representations [23] instead of SMILES. Additionally, we do not use byte-pair encoding for this model, as the SELFIES grammar is specifically designed for generating molecular graphs that are both syntactically and semantically valid.

The optimal hyperparameters for SELFIES Transformer are provided in Table 3, and the training of the best model took 25 epochs (1 hour) in total.

3.2 Molecule retrieval

Fingerprint FFN. The Fingerprint FFN baseline employs a simple feedforward neural network to predict Morgan fingerprints of molecules from binned MS/MS spectra. Specifically, we convert an input spectrum using binning with a maximum m/z value of 1005 and a bin width of 1 m/z. The network outputs a 4096-dimensional vector, trained to approximate the true Morgan fingerprint (with a radius of 2) of the underlying molecule, using cosine similarity as the loss function. Once the fingerprint is predicted for a spectrum, we sort the corresponding candidate list by cosine similarity

to obtain the final top-k predictions. For the chemical formulae bonus challenge, we use a different set of candidates for each spectrum, pruned to include only molecules with the same formula.

We experiment with various standard feedforward neural network hyperparameters. The grid of values explored in this work is provided in Table 4. We monitor the validation loss twice per epoch. The training of the best model took 4 epochs (6.5 hours) for the standard challenge and 5 epochs (7 hours) for the bonus challenge.

Table 5: Hyperparameter grid explored for DeepSets on the molecule retrieval challenge. The optimal values, leading to the minimum validation loss, are highlighted in bold. For the bonus chemical formulae challenge, the optimal hyperparameters for the architecture remain the same while the training parameters are a learning of $1 \cdot 10^{-3}$ and a batch size of 128.

Hyperparameter	Values
Learning rate Batch size (per GPU) Hidden dimensionality Number of layers (per MLP) Dropout	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

DeepSets. Since the binning of spectra has the drawback of producing sparse input vectors and ambiguously rounding signals at the edges of m/z bins, we implement a DeepSets baseline [24] that treats MS/MS spectra as sets of two-dimensional elements: m/z and intensity values of individual signals. The output of DeepSets is a 4096-dimensional Morgan fingerprint, similar to Fingerprint FFN. The entire model is represented as:

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}} = \rho\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi(\mathbf{m}_i \| \mathbf{i}_i)\right),\tag{4}$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$ is the predicted fingerprint, $\phi : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\rho : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{4096}$ are feed-forward neural networks, d is the hidden dimensionality, n is the number of signals in the input MS/MS spectrum, \mathbf{m}_i and \mathbf{i}_i are m/z and intensity values of the *i*-th signal respectively. $\|$ denotes concatenation.

Similar to the Fingerprint FFN baseline, we experiment with different hyperparameter setups (Table 5), monitoring validation performance twice per epoch for early stopping. The training of the best model took 3 epochs (10.5 hours) for the standard challenge and 1 epoch (5 hours) for the bonus challenge.

DeepSets + Fourier features. To enhance the representation of m/z values in the DeepSets architecture, we process them using the Fourier features technique [25]. Specifically, we pre-process each m/z value with a set of sine and cosine functions with 6,000 pre-defined wavelengths, following [18]. These wavelengths decompose each m/z value into 6,000 input features, capturing its both integer and decimal components with greater sensitivity than the single value. This allows the model to be, for example, more sensitive to small differences in m/z values, which are particularly relevant when working with high-accuracy mass spectrometers. The overall DeepSets architecture is then modified as follows:

$$\hat{\mathbf{y}} = \rho \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi \left(\mathbf{W}_1 \text{FOURIER}(\mathbf{m}_i) + \mathbf{b}_1 \| \mathbf{W}_2 \mathbf{i}_i + \mathbf{b}_2 \right) \right), \tag{5}$$

where FOURIER : $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{6000}$ represents the Fourier features, and $\mathbf{W}_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_1 \times 6000}$, $\mathbf{W}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_2 \times 1}$, $\mathbf{b}_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_1}$, and $\mathbf{b}_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_2}$ are learnable parameters. Here, $d_1 = \lfloor 0.8d \rfloor$, $d_2 = d - d_1$, and ϕ takes d inputs instead of 2.

For the DeepSets + Fourier features model, we use the final hyperparameters from the DeepSets model.

Table 6: **Hyperparameter values explored for MIST for the molecule retrieval challenge.** No grid search was performed due to the computational cost of training MIST. Instead, 5 combinations of hyperparameter values were selected for training. The optimal values, leading to the minimum validation loss, are highlighted in bold.

Hyperparameter	Values
Learning rate	0.0001, 0.0003
Scheduler	True, False
Weight decay	1e-6, 1e-7
Learning rate decay	0.9 , 0.995
Dropout	0, 0.3
Hidden size	512
Number of layers	3 , 5
Number of unfolding layers	5
Unfolding loss weight	0.1
Magma loss weight	2, 4
Probability noised spectrum	0.5
Probability remove peak	0.5
Probability scale peak	0.1
Batch size	128

MIST. The Metabolite Inference with Spectrum Transformers (MIST) [26] tool is employed as the state-of-the-art baseline for the molecule retrieval challenge. MIST utilizes a deep learning approach to annotate mass spectra with chemical structures. This tool integrates domain knowledge into its architecture by representing peaks with their associated chemical formulae, which are then processed by the specialized "chemical formula transformer". Furthermore, MIST predicts low-resolution fingerprints, which are subsequently refined to achieve full resolution. By predicting these fingerprints and matching them against a database of candidate structures, MIST effectively annotates MS/MS spectra.

Before training, the dataset is processed to meet the requirements of MIST, including converting spectra to .ms files, subformula labeling, and MAGMa [27] substructure annotation. MIST v2.0.0 is trained using the hyperparameters specified in Table 6. No simulated spectra are used during training. All relevant code can be found on https://github.com/Janne98/mist/tree/mass-spec-gym.

We train MIST on a node equipped with two AMD Epyc 7452 Zen2 CPUs (totaling 64 cores) and a single NVIDIA Ampere A100 GPU. The training process utilizes early stopping with a patience of 20 epochs. The validation loss is computed after each epoch. Convergence is achieved after 32 epochs, which takes approximately 5 hours. The final model weights and the processed dataset can be found on https://zenodo.org/records/11580401

3.3 Spectrum simulation

FFN Fingerprint. The FFN Fingerprint model is based on an implementation of the NEIMS model [28] from [29]. Let G be the input molecule, and $p_{\text{FP}}(G) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ be its molecular fingerprint featurization. In practice we use a combination of three molecular fingerprints: the ECFP4 (Morgan) fingerprint [1], the rdkit fingerprint [30], and the MACCS fingerprint [31]. Let $z \in \mathbb{R}^m$ be a vector representation of metadata for the spectrum prediction (collision energy, instrument type, and precursor adduct). Let $f_{\text{FP}} : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a neural network that maps from the fingerprint to the binned spectrum, where d is the number of bins. The architecture of f_{FP} is an MLP with skip-connections. To predict the output spectrum, our model uses gated bidirectional spectrum prediction (refer to [28] for full details). The loss function is cosine distance, although the intensities of the binned target spectrum are subjected to a square-root transform before distance calculation.

Key hyperparameters for the FP model were optimized using a random sweep with a budget of 50 samples. The results of the sweep are summarized in Table 7. Performance was measured on the simulation split validation set (roughly 10% of all simulation spectra), and the configuration with the highest score was selected for testing. All models were trained for 100 epochs. The learning rate followed a linear decay schedule following a warmup of 1000 steps. The "Precursor m/z offset"

Hyperparameter	Possible Values	Optimal Value
Learning rate	[1e-4, 1e-3]	1.563e-4
Weight decay	$\{0, 1e-7, 1e-6\}$	1e-7
Learning rate decay	[0.7, 1.0]	0.9866
Batch size	$\{32, 64, 128, 256\}$	256
MLP Dropout	$\{0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5\}$	0
MLP Hidden size	$\{256, 512, 1024\}$	1024
MLP Number of layers	$\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$	5
Precursor m/z offset	$\{5, 50, 500\}$	5

Table 7: **FFN Fingerprint model hyperparameter sweep configuration and optimal values for the spectrum simulation challenge.**

Table 8: Molecular graph node and edge features for the GNN model and the FraGNNet model.

Feature	Possible Values	
Atom Type (Element)	$\{C, O, N, P, S, F, Cl, Br, I, Se, Si\}$	
Atom Degree	$\{0,\ldots,10\}$	
Atom Orbital Hybridization	{SP, SP2, SP3, SP3D, SP3D2}	
Atom Formal Charge	$\{-2, \dots, +2\}$	
Atom Radical State	$\{0, \dots, 4\}$	
Atom Ring Membership	{True, False}	
Atom Aromatic	{True, False}	
Atom Mass	\mathbb{R}^+	
Atom Chirality	{Unspecified, Tetrahedral CW, Tetrahedral CCW}	
Bond Degree	{Single, Double, Triple, Aromatic}	

parameter refers to the offset used for bidirectional prediction, corresponding to the τ parameter in Equations 4 and 5 of [28].

GNN Model. The GNN model is based on an implementation from [29]. Given the molecular graph G = (V, E), a set of node and edge features are $X_V = \{X_v\}_{v \in V}$ and $X_E = \{X_e\}_{e \in E}$ are extracted (see Table 8). These features are passed to a GNN $g_{\text{GNN}}(G, X_V, X_E)$ which outputs a set of node embeddings $H_V = \{h_v \in \mathbb{R}^l\}_{v \in V}$. The GNN architecture is Graph Isomorphism Network with Edge Features [32], as implemented in the Pytorch Geometric library [33]. Average pooling is used to produce a graph-level embedding $h_G \in \mathbb{R}^l$ from the individual atom-level embeddings H_V . The molecule embedding is then concatenated with the metadata vector $z \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and passed to another neural network $f_{\text{GNN}}(h_G, z)$ that makes a spectrum prediction. The architecture of f_{GNN} is identical to that of f_{FP} , albeit with different hyperparameter configurations and input dimensions. The loss function and intensity transformations are consistent with the FFN Fingerprint model.

As was the case with the FFN Fingerprint model, a hyperparameter sweep with a budget of 50 samples was used to select hyperparameters for the GNN model. The results of this sweep are summarized in Table 9.

FraGNNet Model. The FraGNNet model [29] simulates a spectrum by modelling a distribution over fragments of the input molecule G and then mapping this distribution to a mass spectrum; for full details, refer to [29]. A recursive fragmentation algorithm $p_{\text{FRAG}}(G)$ is used to pre-process G into a fragmentation DAG $G_D = (V_D, E_D)$ that represents a hierarchy of plausible molecular fragments. Each node s of V_D represents a fragment (connected subgraph) of the original molecular graph G. A GNN $g_{\text{FRAG}}^1(G, X_V, X_E)$, with identical architecture to g_{GNN} (excluding hyperparameter choices), is used to generate atom embeddings H_V . The information from the DAG G_D and the atom embeddings H_V is jointly processed by a second GNN $g_{\text{FRAG}}^2(G_D, H_V)$, which produces embeddings $H_S = \{h_s \in \mathbb{R}^k\}_{s \in G_V}$. An MLP $f_{\text{FRAG}} : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$ is applied to each fragment embedding to predict a distribution over fragments. The mass spectrum (which is a distribution over masses) can be inferred from the fragment distribution by aggregating probabilities for fragments that share the same chemical formula and using the masses of these formulae (which are known) to map the probabilities

Hyperparameter	Possible Values	Optimal Value
Learning rate	[1e-4, 1e-3]	3.755e-4
Weight decay	$\{0, 1e-7, 1e-6\}$	1e-6
Learning rate decay	[0.7, 1.0]	0.8523
Batch size	$\{32, 64, 128, 256\}$	128
MLP Dropout	$\{0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.3\}$	0
MLP Hidden size	$\{256, 512, 1024\}$	512
MLP Number of layers	$\{2, 3, 4, 5\}$	4
Precursor m/z offset	$\{5, 50, 500\}$	5
GNN Normalization	{none, batch, layer, graph}	batch
GNN Dropout	$\{0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.3\}$	0.2
GNN Hidden size	$\{64, 128, 256, 512\}$	256
GNN Number of layers	$\{2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$	4

 Table 9: GNN hyperparameter sweep configuration and optimal values for the spectrum simulation challenge.

Table 10: FraGNNet hyperparameter values for the spectrum simulation challenge.

Hyperparameter	Value
Learning rate	3.033e-4
Weight decay	0.01
Batch size	128
MLP Dropout	0.2
MLP Hidden size	64
MLP Number of layers	2
Mol GNN Normalization	batch
Mol GNN Dropout	0.2
Mol GNN Hidden size	256
Mol GNN Number of layers	4
Frag GNN Normalization	graph
Frag GNN Dropout	0.1
Frag GNN Hidden size	256
Frag GNN Number of layers	4

to a mass distribution. The model is trained by minimizing the cross-entropy between the predicted distribution and the ground-truth spectrum. Although FraGNNet can model peak locations with extremely high precision, during evaluation we bin the predicted spectrum at 0.01 Da to allow for fair comparison with the other baseline models.

The hyperparameters for the FraGNNet model were not optimized using a sweep, since the initial values significantly outperformed the other two simulation models. The key hyperparameter selections are summarized in Table 10. Unlike the other baselines, a learning rate schedule was not applied during training.

3.3.1 Jensen-Shannon Similarity Metric

The Jensen-Shannon similarity metric is an alternate way of representing Jensen-Shannon divergence between the true mass spectrum x and the predicted mass spectrum \hat{x} , both of which can be interpreted as discrete probability distributions. It is defined using the following equation:

$$JSS(x,\hat{x}) = 1 - \frac{JSD(x,\hat{x})}{\log(2)} \tag{6}$$

Note that JSD denotes the Jensen-Shannon divergence calculated with the natural logarithm log. JSD ranges from log(2) (when x and \hat{x} share no support) to 0 (when $x = \hat{x}$); JSS ranges from 0 to 1.



Figure 6: Test performance of the MIST model on the molecule retrieval challenge, stratified by various metadata. a, Performance stratified by instrument types. b, Performance stratified by collision energies. c, Performance stratified by the top 5 most common chemical classes. Error bars represent 99.9% confidence intervals, calculated through bootstrapping with 20,000 resamples.

3.4 Extended results

In addition to the overall metrics averaged across the entire test set, as presented in the main text, we evaluate the MCES @ 1 metric on the molecule retrieval challenge across different metadata subsets. Specifically, we stratify the results of all baselines by instrument types, collision energies, and chemical classes (Figure 6). Overall, all methods perform better on MS/MS spectra from Orbitrap instruments, which generally produce higher-quality spectra. Regarding collision energies and chemical classes, machine learning methods perform relatively consistently across various subsets, with the exception of DeepSets + Fourier features, which excels on carbohydrates and carbohydrate conjugates. Interestingly, this chemical class exhibits the highest variability in performance across methods, while classes such as organosulfur compounds result in more limited variability.

4 Background on mass spectrometry

This section introduces mass spectrometry to the broader machine learning community. Based on [34], we first define the concept of molecular structures (Section 4.1) and then outline the basic principles of tandem mass spectrometry (Section 4.2).

4.1 Small molecules

An **atom** is the fundamental building block of matter. Each atom is formed of **protons** and **neutrons** comprising a nucleus, as well as **electrons** orbiting around the nucleus. The number of protons defines a **chemical element** of an atom. For example, H (hydrogen) atom has 1 proton, C (carbon) atom has 6 protons, Br (bromine) atom has 35 protons, and so on. A **molecule** is a compound made up of two or more atoms that are chemically **bonded** together by sharing electrons. The more pairs of electrons they share the stronger the bond between atoms. **Molecular structure** is typically understood as a labeled undirected graph, where nodes represent atoms and are labeled by the corresponding chemical elements along with their spatial coordinates. Edges represent bonds and are labeled by the number of shared electron pairs.

Molecular representations. Molecules containing carbonhydrogen bonds are named **organic compounds**. Since they constitute the majority of known chemicals, it is convenient to represent them using simplified planar graph representations - **skeletal structures**. The example is shown in fig. 7. In a skeletal structure, nodes are implicitly associated with carbon atoms, and hydrogens adjacent to carbons are omitted. Noteworthy, this adaptation does not



Figure 7: Example molecular structure of *firefly luciferin* – a compound responsible for the characteristic yellow light emission from many firefly species.

affect the expressivity of the representation because hydrogens can be unambiguously filled based on the bonding capacity of each element given by its composition. A spatial arrangement of atoms is encoded in special **stereochemical** types of bonds visualized as either dashed or solid triangles representing two opposite directions orthogonal to a molecular plane. Molecules differing only in stereochemical bonds are referred to as **stereoisomers**.

In order to simplify computer storage and processing, molecular structures are commonly encoded as strings. The three most widely used variants are **SMILES** (Simplified molecular-input line-entry system), **InChI** (International Chemical Identifier), and **InChIKey**. Although both SMILES and InChI serve the purpose of uniquely identifying a molecule as a sequence of characters, SMILES are more human-readable and simpler but do not undergo a unified standard. In contrast, InChI strings have more complex yet standardized grammar. To give an example, SMILES string of *firefly luciferin*, depicted in Figure 7, is C1[C@@H](N=C(S1)C2=NC3=C(S2)C=C(C=C3)O)C(=O)O, while its InChI string is InChI=1S/C11H8N2O3S2/c14-5-1-2-6-8(3-5)18-10(12-6)9-13-7(4-17-9)11(15)16/h1-3,7,14H,4H2,(H,15,16)/t7-/m1/s1. InChIKey representations are fixed-size hashes (e.g., IWJYWBVPCGUPLO-BFUDMSGGSA-N) derived from InChI strings, which are convenient, for instance, to perform searches of molecules in large databases. First 14 characters of the InChI key encode the connectivity information and are often referred to as **2D InChI keys**. Another compact coarse-grained representation of a molecule is its **chemical formula**, which represents the histogram of chemical elements within a molecule. Accordingly, the chemical formula of *firefly luciferin* is $C_{11}H_8N_2O_3S_2$.

The comparison of molecular structures is commonly conducted by utilizing their **fingerprints**, which are fixed-size binary vectors. A basic example of a molecular fingerprint is the Molecular ACCess System (MACCS) [35], where each of its 166 bits represents the presence or absence of a specific predefined substructure. The most widely-adopted family of fingerprints is Morgan fingerprints [1], which are fixed-size hashes encoding the local neighborhoods of molecular atoms. To compare two molecules, the most common approach is to generate the corresponding fingerprints and compute their Tanimoto similarity. The Tanimoto similarity is defined as a ratio of the number of shared positive bits to the total number of unique positive bits present in both fingerprints.

Molecular properties. Molecular mass is a central notion for mass spectrometry. It is characterized as a sum of **atomic masses** constituting the molecule and is usually measured in **Da** (Daltons). Single Dalton is defined as $\frac{1}{12}$ of the mass of ^{12}C (carbon atom containing 6 protons and 6 neutrons). Importantly, a molecule is roughly termed as a "**small molecule**" if its mass is less than 1000 Da. As a consequence of the definition of a Dalton and the significantly smaller mass of electrons compared to protons and neutrons, one nuclear particle has a mass approximately equal to 1 Da. Specifically, a proton has a mass of approximately 1.007 Da, a neutron has a mass of approximately 1.009 Da, and an electron has a mass of approximately 0.0005 Da¹. While the number of protons in the atom of a chemical element is given by the definition, the notation ^{12}C is used to explicitly express the number of neutrons.

Atoms having the same number of protons but different numbers of neutrons are referred to as **isotopes** of a chemical element. For instance, Cl (chlorine) element has two stable² isotopes: ³⁵Cl having a mass of 34.96885269(4) Da and ³⁷Cl having a mass of 36.96590258(6) Da. Naturally, ³⁵Cl occurs in roughly 76% of cases and ³⁷Cl occurs in remaining 24% of cases. Another element S (sulfur) has four stable isotopes: ³²S, ³³S, ³⁴S, and ³⁶S with natural abundances 94.99%, 0.75%, 4.25%, and 0.01% respectively. In contrast, F has only a single stable isotope ¹⁹F. The mass of the most abundant isotope is often termed as a **monoisotopic mass** of an element.

Another molecular property essential for the domain of mass spectrometry is a **molecular charge**. A molecule is defined as **negatively charged**, **neutral**, or **positively charged** if its atoms in total have more, equal, or fewer electrons than protons respectively. A charged molecule is termed **ion** and its charge is often expressed as an integer indicating the difference between the number of protons and electrons. The sign of such an integer can be often found in different notations and depictions of a molecule. For example, a positively-charged ion of a molecule M can be denoted as M+. **Ionization adducts** are formed when a molecule binds with an ion. Common examples include the [M+H]+ adduct, where a molecule M gains a proton (H+), and the [M+Na]+ adduct, where a molecule M gains a sodium ion (Na+).

4.2 Tandem mass spectrometry

The identification of molecules present in a sample is a fundamental task in various fields of biology and environmental science. To achieve this, Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) is the most widely employed technique. This method constitutes an intricate pipeline composed of liquid chromatography and several stages of mass spectrometry (i.e., tandem mass spectrometry) to separate, elucidate, and quantify compounds in complex mixtures. Nevertheless, interpreting the output data from LC-MS/MS presents a significant challenge, as information about the molecules is only available in terms of their masses or the masses of their fragments. In the following section, we introduce tandem mass spectrometry. However, we do not discuss liquid chromatography, as it is outside the scope of this work.

Acquisition of mass spectra. Mass spectrometry (MS) plays a critical role in the workflow of LC-MS/MS, enabling the determination of the molecular mass of a compound. The fundamental principle of MS involves ionizing a sample to create charged molecules or fragments that are subsequently separated based on their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) and detected using a mass analyzer. It is important to note that MS instruments are only capable of measuring m/z values and not the mass or charge³ of the ions individually. The resulting **mass spectrum** is a collection of two-dimensional points, with the first dimension representing m/z values and the second dimension corresponding to their respective abundances (i.e. the **intensities** of the detected signals).

The ionization process in MS can occur through a variety of methods, including electron impact ionization (EI), electrospray ionization (ESI), and matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI). Regardless of the method used, the result is the formation of ions with different m/z ratios, which are then separated by the mass analyzer. ESI is the most convenient and common method to couple with LC. During the electrospray ionization, the liquid sample is sprayed through a small needle

¹Although the mass of an atom might be expected to equal the sum of the masses of its particles, it is always slightly less (with the exception of the hydrogen atom). This phenomenon is caused by the nuclear binding energy and is termed the mass defect of the nucleus.

²Isotope is stable if it does not decay into other elements on geologic timescales.

³Although, advanced mass spectrometry instruments report charges.



Figure 8: **Examples of MS**¹ and MS/MS (i.e., MS²) spectra. Top, An example of an MS¹ spectrum, featuring haloperidol (designated as "M"), with a mass of 375.14 Da. Several peaks are labeled, while others may correspond to different compounds. Isotopes are denoted by ¹³C (1x) and ¹³C (2x), and ³⁷Cl, indicating ions ([M+H]⁺ or [M+Na]⁺) containing corresponding isotopes. Notice, that the spectrum is simplified for visualization purposes, and one can frequently observe more intricate isotopic patterns and adduct species. Bottom, MS/MS (i.e., MS²) spectrum acquired by fragmenting protonated haloperidol from MS¹ belonging to the isolation window highlighted in green.

that has a high voltage applied to it. The high voltage causes the liquid to form tiny droplets, and as these droplets move through the air, they pick up an electrical charge. These droplets will either be positively or negatively charged depending on the polarity of the applied voltage. Further, the charged droplets continue to break apart and re-form until they eventually become individual ions. During the ionization process, ions form **adducts**, which are clusters of molecules that stick together due to electrostatic interactions. For example, a molecule in the sample may pick up a positively charged droplet ion such as a proton, Na (sodium), or K (potassium). As a consequence, the resulting ion measured in a mass spectrum has a higher mass-to-charge ratio than the original molecule. Such adduct species of molecule M are then denoted as [M+H]+, [M+Na]+, or [M+K]+ respectively.

It is important to note that the understanding of the sample introduced to MS system should not be limited to a set of mutually exclusive molecules. Instead, it should be understood as a complex mixture of compounds with millions of duplicates for each molecular structure. For the sake of simplicity, we often refer to a "molecule" as a group of identical compounds in the state prior to the ionization. In fact, within a single mass spectrometry experiment one can frequently observe m/z values that correspond to various adduct species of "the same molecule", as well as differing isotopic compositions of "the same molecule" (Figure 8).

After ionization, the mass analyzer separates the ions based on their m/z ratios. There are various types of mass analyzers, such as time-of-flight (QTOF), quadrupole, and Orbitrap, each with unique strengths and weaknesses. However, they all operate on the principle of using a combination of electromagnetic fields to isolate ions. Finally, the ion detector, typically integrated into the mass analyzer, measures the m/z value and intensity of the signal. While we will not delve into the technicalities, it's worth noting certain peculiarities of the measurement that are significant for subsequent MS data analysis.

Measurment of tandem mass spectra. Tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS or MS²) is a powerful technique enabling the detailed analysis of molecular structures by breaking down molecules into

smaller fragments and analyzing their mass-to-charge ratios (m/z). It involves using two or more subsequent mass spectrometry experiments. The first stage of mass spectrometry (MS^1) is out of the scope of this work; therefore, we do not discuss it here. Nevertheless, Figure 8 shows the main concept. In the second stage (MS/MS or MS^2), the instrument selects specific ions of interest termed **precursor ions**. This is realized by defining an **isolation window** of specific width that slides across the m/z range to select ions of interest. The selected m/z values can be either arbitrary (data-independent acquisition; DIA) or pre-defined beforehand (data-dependent acquisition; DDA).

Once the precursor ion is identified, it is then subjected to fragmentation. The most prominent technique to fragment the ion is collision-induced dissociation (CID). It works by accelerating the molecule towards a gas, causing it to collide with the gas molecules and recursively break into smaller substructures. The more **collision energy** is provided, the more molecular fragments are obtained as a result. The second mass spectrometer is then used to measure the **MS/MS spectrum** (also referred to as MS^2 spectrum or fragmentation spectrum), where peaks represent m/z ratios of individual fragments. Additionally, the process of selecting and fragmenting ions can be recursively repeated up to the MS^n level for any reasonable positive integer *n* retaining fragments.

Because the instrument can only detect ionized fragments, only a portion of substructures are recorded. For instance, a singly-charged ion broken into two fragments will form one ion and one neutral molecule (**neutral loss**) depending on the current location of the charge within the molecule. However, since "precursor ion" is in fact a group of identical molecules and the charge site is not deterministic with respect to molecule, MS^2 spectrum often contains peaks for both parts with intensities reflecting their probability distribution. In particular, fragmentation spectrum often contains **precursor peak** corresponding to the whole non-fragmented precursor ion.

It is important to note that the graph-theoretical abstraction of fragmentation as a consequent removal of bonds is often, but not always, correct. For example, during CID fragmentation, a molecule can undergo rearrangement or transfer reactions leading to graph deformations, such as the formation of new rings [36, 37].

MS/MS spectra and their properties. The detector records the entire ion signal as a function of time, resulting in a mass spectrum that exhibits a continuous signal proportional to the intensity of ions relative to their mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio. This type of spectrum is known as a **profile** mass spectrum. In contrast, the instrument often produces **centroid** spectra, which undergo pre-processing via an algorithm that extracts peak information from the profile mass spectrum. The resulting signals are reported at specific m/z values and are termed **peaks** or **signals**. Also, it is a common practice to pre-process intensities such that they are represented as fractions of the maximum spectrum intensity (corresponding to the **base peak**), and are referred to as **relative intensities**.

The accuracy of the measured m/z ratios is profoundly reliant on the instrument's quality and its constituents. The two most crucial indicators of quality are the **resolution** and **accuracy** of the instrument. Resolution denotes the ability to differentiate ions with nearly identical masses, whereas accuracy indicates how close the measured m/z value is to the actual ground-truth value. Since modern instruments generally possess high separation capabilities, the resolution is often not a problem for downstream data analysis. Nonetheless, accuracy remains a pivotal concept.

Instrument vendors typically provide the accuracy of individual instruments in **ppm** (parts per million), which means that accuracy is inversely proportional to the measured mass. Specifically, a ppm of 5 would indicate that for the ground-truth m/z m, the measured value would fall within the interval $m \pm 5 \times 10^{-6} m$.

Another critical property of an instrument is its **sensitivity**. Low-sensitivity measurements may fail to detect all anticipated molecules. Conversely, high-sensitivity measurements may lead to a significant amount of **noise** – peaks that do not correspond to any actual molecules.

Annotation of MS/MS spectra. The distribution of masses provided in an MS/MS spectrum contains rich information about the underlying molecular structure. Given an MS/MS spectrum, the aim is to "arrange" the masses into a complete molecular structure. The extent to which MS/MS information is sufficient for deducing the complete structure remains a fundamental open question. However, regardless of the completeness of the structural information, a complex, high-accuracy fragmentation spectrum usually uniquely describes the molecule. The opposite statement is true only under the assumption of a similar MS experimental setup. The same compound can be fragmented in

completely different ways depending on experimental conditions such as ionization adduct species or applied collision energy. This observation rationally motivates the repeated measurement of the same compound with different instrument parameters, thereby enriching the structural information. There are multiple challenges associated with MS/MS annotation and the experimental setup, including the following examples.

First, the width of the isolation window significantly affects the information present in a fragmentation spectrum. A wide window may isolate multiple molecules of similar masses and fragment them, resulting in a single **chimeric spectrum**, which can be misleading for further annotation. Conversely, a narrow window may miss desired isotopes of the same molecule. Ultimately, the isolation window may be triggered for a wrong m/z range, resulting in a spectrum containing nothing but noise.

Second, collision energy affects the number of fragments, their size, and their structure, which in turn affects the number of peaks and their positions. Frequently, as a result of low collision energy, an MS/MS spectrum may contain only a single meaningful peak representing an unfragmented molecule. In contrast, high energy may result in too severe fragmentation, limiting structural annotation.

Finally, CID fragmentation has inherent limitations regarding the interpretation of a molecular structure. For example, it is nearly impossible to distinguish stereoisomers with sole MS/MS data. However, orthogonal sources of information, such as liquid chromatography (LC), may separate the isomers before introducing them to the mass spectrometry stage [38, 39].

5 Datasheet

Datasheets for datasets, proposed in [40], aim to serve dataset creators and consumers. They encourage creators to reflect on the creation and maintenance processes, highlighting assumptions, risks, and implications, while providing consumers with essential information to make informed decisions and avoid misuse. Below, we provide a datasheet for the MassSpecGym benchmark.

5.1 Motivation

1. For what purpose was the dataset created?

The MassSpecGym benchmark was created to accelerate the process of molecule discovery and identification from tandem mass spectrometry data. To the best of our knowledge, it is the first comprehensive benchmark of its kind.

2. Who created the dataset (e.g., which team, research group) and on behalf of which entity (e.g., company, institution, organization)?

The benchmark was created as a community effort involving multiple research groups in the field of machine learning and computational metabolomics. Please see the list of authors for the complete enumeration. The idea of this benchmark set was conceived at the Dagstuhl Seminar #24181 "Computational 352 Metabolomics: Towards Molecules, Models, and their Meaning".

3. Who funded the creation of the dataset?

The project was funded by national grants listed in the Acknowledgements section. Note that this article solely reflects the opinions and conclusions of its authors and not of its funders.

4. Any other comments?

No other comments.

5.2 Composition

1. What do the instances that comprise the dataset represent (e.g., documents, photos, people, countries)?

The instances of the dataset represent tandem mass spectra (measurements of molecules obtained from biological and environmental samples), each annotated with an underlying molecule.

2. How many instances are there in total (of each type, if appropriate)?

The dataset contains 231 thousand instances (tandem mass spectra) annotated with 29 thousand unique molecules in total.

3. Does the dataset contain all possible instances or is it a sample (not necessarily random) of instances from a larger set?

Our MassSpecGym dataset is the largest available of its kind. It is sourced from both publicly available data and our in-house measurements. The dataset provides a diverse sample of theoretically possible tandem mass spectra and molecules, richly covering molecular masses and chemical classes.

4. What data does each instance consist of? "Raw" data (e.g., unprocessed text or images) or features? In either case, please provide a description.

Each instance primarily consists of a tandem mass spectrum and the underlying molecule. Intuitively, a tandem mass spectrum is a set of 2D points (peaks), where each point represents the abundance (intensity) of molecular fragments with specific masses (m/z values). A molecule is represented as a canonical, PubChem-standardized SMILES string. Additionally, each instance contains experimental metadata and auxiliary features derived from mass spectra and molecules. Please see the supplemental materials for the complete list.

5. Is there a label or target associated with each instance?

Yes, molecules define labels to be predicted from tandem mass spectra.

6. **Is any information missing from individual instances?** If so, please provide a description, explaining why this information is missing (e.g., because it was unavailable). This does not include intentionally removed information, but might include, e.g., redacted text.

Only the instrument type and collision energy metadata features are missing for some of the instances. In these cases, the information was not deposited in the public repositories used as a source for our dataset.

7. Are relationships between individual instances made explicit (e.g., users' movie ratings, social network links)?

No, each instance is considered an independent measurement.

8. Are there recommended data splits (e.g., training, development/validation, testing)?

Our MassSpecGym benchmark provides a data split to standardize the training and evaluation process for different models, making it easily accessible to the broad machine learning community. The data split minimizes the similarity between training and test instances by using molecule edit distance as the measure of similarity.

9. Are there any errors, sources of noise, or redundancies in the dataset?

Noise in signals is inherent to mass spectrometry data. Errors and redundancies are possible in public data sources. However, our standardization pipeline aims to minimize the chances of erroneous and redundant instances.

10. Is the dataset self-contained, or does it link to or otherwise rely on external resources (e.g., websites, tweets, other datasets)?

The dataset is self-contained.

- 11. Does the dataset contain data that might be considered confidential (e.g., data that is protected by legal privilege or by doctor-patient confidentiality, data that includes the content of individuals' non-public communications)? If so, please provide a description. No, the dataset does not contain confidential data.
- 12. Does the dataset contain data that, if viewed directly, might be offensive, insulting, threatening, or might otherwise cause anxiety?

We assume that our mass spectrometry dataset does not contain any information that may cause anxiety.

5.3 Collection Process

1. How was the data associated with each instance acquired? Was the data directly observable (e.g., raw text, movie ratings), reported by subjects (e.g., survey responses), or indirectly inferred/derived from other data (e.g., part-of-speech tags, model-based guesses for age or language)? If the data was reported by subjects or indirectly inferred/derived from other data, was the data validated/verified? If so, please describe how.

The data was directly observable based on mass spectrometry measurements.

2. What mechanisms or procedures were used to collect the data (e.g., hardware apparatuses or sensors, manual human curation, software programs, software APIs)? How were these mechanisms or procedures validated?

The data was collected using mass spectrometry instrumentation, pre-processed by software provided by the instrument vendors, and post-processed using open-source software (mainly matchms). The molecular labels were primarily assigned through manual human curation. These mechanisms were validated by our cleaning and quality assessment workflows.

- 3. If the dataset is a sample from a larger set, what was the sampling strategy (e.g., deterministic, probabilistic with specific sampling probabilities)? Our dataset is not a sample from a larger set.
- 4. Who was involved in the data collection process (e.g., students, crowdworkers, contractors) and how were they compensated (e.g., how much were crowdworkers paid)? Only the authors of this work were involved in the data collection process.
- 5. Over what timeframe was the data collected? Does this timeframe match the creation timeframe of the data associated with the instances (e.g., recent crawl of old news articles)? If not, please describe the timeframe in which the data associated with the instances was created.

The spectral libraries used to compile our dataset were downloaded from the official websites on May 27th, 2024.

6. Were any ethical review processes conducted (e.g., by an institutional review board)? No ethical review was conducted.

5.4 Preprocessing/cleaning/labeling

1. Was any preprocessing/cleaning/labeling of the data done (e.g., discretization or bucketing, tokenization, part-of-speech tagging, SIFT feature extraction, removal of instances, processing of missing values)? If so, please provide a description. If not, you may skip the remaining questions in this section.

The dataset was preprocessed and cleaned using our standardization pipeline. The pipeline aims to remove noisy and corrupted spectra and ensures reliable molecular labels and metadata. Please see the supplemental materials for details. No manual labeling was performed.

2. Was the "raw" data saved in addition to the preprocessed/cleaned/labeled data (e.g., to support unanticipated future uses)? If so, please provide a link or other access point to the "raw" data.

The "raw" dataset was not saved as part of the MassSpecGym benchmark but can be easily downloaded from the links specified in the supplemental information.

3. Is the software that was used to preprocess/clean/label the data available? If so, please provide a link or other access point.

The preprocessing and cleaning were largely done using the matchms library (https://github.com/matchms/matchms). The data processing code is publicly available on our GitHub (https://github.com/pluskal-lab/MassSpecGym). The only non-publicly available processing step we performed was the comparison of our mass spectra with the spectra of the commercially available NIST 23 library. This step helped us to partially clean the dataset but NIST 23 spectra were never disclosed or used in any further analyses.

4. Any other comments?

No other comments.

5.5 Uses

1. Has the dataset been used for any tasks already?

The dataset has already been used for the three tasks defined for the MassSpecGym benchmark: *de novo* molecule generation, molecule retrieval, and spectrum simulation.

2. Is there a repository that links to any or all papers or systems that use the dataset? The links to papers using the MassSpecGym dataset will be available through the Papers with Code resource (https://paperswithcode.com/).

3. What (other) tasks could the dataset be used for?

The dataset can be used for other tasks related to the annotation of tandem mass spectra and, more broadly, machine learning from spectra or molecules.

4. Is there anything about the composition of the dataset or the way it was collected and preprocessed/cleaned/labeled that might impact future uses? For example, is there anything that a dataset consumer might need to know to avoid uses that could result in unfair treatment of individuals or groups (e.g., stereotyping, quality of service issues) or other risks or harms (e.g., legal risks, financial harms)? If so, please provide a description. Is there anything a dataset consumer could do to mitigate these risks or harms?

To the best of our knowledge, we do not anticipate any risks or harms resulting from our dataset.

5. Are there tasks for which the dataset should not be used? If so, please provide a description.

We are not aware of any such tasks. However, we anticipate that users will primarily use our dataset for the three mass spectrum annotation tasks defined in the MassSpecGym benchmark.

6. Any other comments?

No other comments.

5.6 Distribution

1. Will the dataset be distributed to third parties outside of the entity (e.g., company, institution, organization) on behalf of which the dataset was created? If so, please provide a description.

Yes, the MassSpecGym benchmark (https://github.com/pluskal-lab/ MassSpecGym) and the MassSpecGym dataset (https://huggingface.co/datasets/ roman-bushuiev/MassSpecGym) are publicly available.

2. How will the dataset will be distributed (e.g., tarball on website, API, GitHub)?

The training and validation data are available through the Hugging Face Datasets service. The code for training and validation is available via GitHub. An API will be available for evaluation on the test data.

3. When will the dataset be distributed?

This training and validation data are publicly available at the moment of writing.

4. Will the dataset be distributed under a copyright or other intellectual property (IP) license, and/or under applicable terms of use (ToU)?

The data and code are distributed with an MIT license.

5. Have any third parties imposed IP-based or other restrictions on the data associated with the instances?

No third parties have imposed IP-based or other restrictions on the data associated with the instances.

6. Do any export controls or other regulatory restrictions apply to the dataset or to individual instances?

No export controls or other regulatory restrictions apply to the dataset or to individual instances.

7. Any other comments?

No other comments.

5.7 Maintenance

- 1. Who will be supporting/hosting/maintaining the dataset? The dataset will be supported, hosted and mainted by the authors.
- 2. How can the owner/curator/manager of the dataset be contacted (e.g., email address)? The authors can be contacted through the following email addresses: roman.bushuiev@uochb.cas.cz, anton.bushuiev@cvut.cz, josef.sivic@cvut.cz, tomas.pluskal@uochb.cas.cz

3. Is there an erratum?

There is no erratum. If errors are found in the future, they will be released on the project website.

4. Will the dataset be updated (e.g., to correct labeling errors, add new instances, delete instances)?

Yes, if necessary to ensure high quality, the dataset will be updated with new versions on GitHub and Hugging Face Datasets.

5. If the dataset relates to people, are there applicable limits on the retention of the data associated with the instances (e.g., were the individuals in question told that their data would be retained for a fixed period of time and then deleted)?

The dataset does not relate to people.

6. Will older versions of the dataset continue to be supported/hosted/maintained? If so, please describe how. If not, please describe how its obsolescence will be communicated to dataset consumers.

Yes, we plan to maintain the benchmark and update it to new versions, primarily when more publicly available MS/MS data becomes accessible.

7. If others want to extend/augment/build on/contribute to the dataset, is there a mechanism for them to do so?

Yes, users can extend, augment, build on, or contribute to the dataset and the source code by using the standard mechanisms of issues and pull requests on GitHub and Hugging Face Datasets.

8. Any other comments?

No other comments.

References

- [1] David Rogers and Mathew Hahn. Extended-connectivity fingerprints. *Journal of chemical information and modeling*, 50(5):742–754, 2010. doi: 10.1021/ci100050t.
- [2] Swarit Jasial, Ye Hu, Martin Vogt, and Jürgen Bajorath. Activity-relevant similarity values for fingerprints and implications for similarity searching. *F1000Research*, 5, 2016. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.8357.2.
- [3] Fleming Kretschmer, Jan Seipp, Marcus Ludwig, Gunnar W Klau, and Sebastian Boecker. Small molecule machine learning: All models are wrong, some may not even be useful. *bioRxiv*, pages 2023–03, 2023. doi: doi.org/10.1101/2023.03.27.534311.
- [4] MoNA. Massbank of north america. https://mona.fiehnlab.ucdavis.edu/. URL https: //mona.fiehnlab.ucdavis.edu/.
- [5] Hisayuki Horai, Masanori Arita, Shigehiko Kanaya, Yoshito Nihei, Tasuku Ikeda, Kazuhiro Suwa, Yuya Ojima, Kenichi Tanaka, Satoshi Tanaka, Ken Aoshima, et al. Massbank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences. *Journal of mass spectrometry*, 45(7): 703–714, 2010. doi: 10.1002/jms.1777.
- [6] Mingxun Wang, Jeremy J. Carver, Vanessa V. Phelan, Laura M. Sanchez, Neha Garg, and et al. Sharing and community curation of mass spectrometry data with global natural products social molecular networking. *Nature Biotechnology*, 34(8):828–837, Aug 2016. ISSN 1546-1696. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3597. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3597.
- [7] Corinna Brungs, Robin Schmid, Steffen Heuckeroth, Aninda Mazumdar, Matúš Drexler, Pavel Šácha, Pieter C Dorrestein, Daniel Petras, Louis-Felix Nothias, Radim Nencka, et al. Efficient generation of open multi-stage fragmentation mass spectral libraries. 2024. doi: 10.26434/ chemrxiv-2024-11tqh.
- [8] Florian Huber, Stefan Verhoeven, Christiaan Meijer, Hanno Spreeuw, Efraín Manuel Villanueva Castilla, Cunliang Geng, Justin J. j. van der Hooft, Simon Rogers, Adam Belloum, Faruk Diblen, and Jurriaan H. Spaaks. matchms - processing and similarity evaluation of mass spectrometry

data. *Journal of Open Source Software*, 5(52):2411, 2020. doi: 10.21105/joss.02411. URL https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.02411.

- [9] Kai Dührkop, Markus Fleischauer, Marcus Ludwig, Alexander A. Aksenov, Alexey V. Melnik, Marvin Meusel, Pieter C. Dorrestein, Juho Rousu, and Sebastian Böcker. Sirius 4: a rapid tool for turning tandem mass spectra into metabolite structure information. *Nature Methods*, 16 (4):299–302, Apr 2019. ISSN 1548-7105. doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0344-8. URL https: //doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0344-8.
- [10] NIST Mass Spectrometry Data Center. NIST20: Updates to the nist tandem and electron ionization spectral libraries. https://www.nist.gov/srd/nist-special-database-20, 2020.
- [11] Niek F de Jonge, Helge Hecht, Justin JJ van der Hooft, and Florian Huber. Reproducible ms/ms library cleaning pipeline in matchms. *ChemRxiv preprint*, 2023. doi: doi:10.26434/ chemrxiv-2023-144cm.
- [12] Sebastian Böcker and Florian Rasche. Towards de novo identification of metabolites by analyzing tandem mass spectra. *Bioinformatics*, 24:I49–I55, 2008. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btn270. Proc. of *European Conference on Computational Biology* (ECCB 2008).
- [13] Florian Rasche, Aleš Svatoš, Ravi Kumar Maddula, Christoph Böttcher, and Sebastian Böcker. Computing fragmentation trees from tandem mass spectrometry data. *Anal Chem*, 83(4): 1243–1251, 2011. doi: 10.1021/ac101825k.
- [14] Sebastian Böcker and Kai Dührkop. Fragmentation trees reloaded. *Journal of cheminformatics*, 8:1–26, 2016. doi: 10.1186/s13321-016-0116-8.
- [15] Volker D. Hähnke, Sunghwan Kim, and Evan E. Bolton. Pubchem chemical structure standardization. *Journal of Cheminformatics*, 10(1):36, Aug 2018. ISSN 1758-2946. doi: 10.1186/s13321-018-0293-8. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s13321-018-0293-8.
- [16] Yannick Djoumbou Feunang, Roman Eisner, Craig Knox, Leonid Chepelev, Janna Hastings, Gareth Owen, Eoin Fahy, Christoph Steinbeck, Shankar Subramanian, Evan Bolton, Russell Greiner, and David S. Wishart. Classyfire: automated chemical classification with a comprehensive, computable taxonomy. *Journal of Cheminformatics*, 8(1):61, Nov 2016. ISSN 1758-2946. doi: 10.1186/s13321-016-0174-y. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13321-016-0174-y.
- [17] F. Pedregosa, G. Varoquaux, A. Gramfort, V. Michel, B. Thirion, O. Grisel, M. Blondel, P. Prettenhofer, R. Weiss, V. Dubourg, J. Vanderplas, A. Passos, D. Cournapeau, M. Brucher, M. Perrot, and E. Duchesnay. Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 12:2825–2830, 2011. doi: 10.5555/1953048.2078195.
- [18] Roman Bushuiev, Anton Bushuiev, Raman Samusevich, Corinna Brungs, Josef Sivic, and Tomáš Pluskal. Emergence of molecular structures from repository-scale self-supervised learning on tandem mass spectra. *ChemRxiv*, 2024. doi: 10.26434/chemrxiv-2023-kss3r-v2.
- [19] Kai Dührkop, Louis-Félix Nothias, Markus Fleischauer, Raphael Reher, Marcus Ludwig, Martin A Hoffmann, Daniel Petras, William H Gerwick, Juho Rousu, Pieter C Dorrestein, et al. Systematic classification of unknown metabolites using high-resolution fragmentation mass spectra. *Nature biotechnology*, 39(4):462–471, 2021. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0740-8.
- [20] PubChem. PubChem. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/docs/statistics/. URL https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/docs/statistics.
- [21] Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Łukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. Attention is all you need. *Advances in neural information* processing systems, 30, 2017. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1706.03762.
- [22] Rico Sennrich, Barry Haddow, and Alexandra Birch. Neural machine translation of rare words with subword units. In *Proceedings of the 54th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, ACL 2016, August 7-12, 2016, Berlin, Germany, Volume 1: Long Papers.* The Association for Computer Linguistics, 2016. doi: 10.18653/V1/P16-1162. URL https://doi.org/10.18653/v1/p16-1162.

- [23] Mario Krenn, Florian Häse, AkshatKumar Nigam, Pascal Friederich, and Alán Aspuru-Guzik. Self-referencing embedded strings (SELFIES): A 100% robust molecular string representation. *Mach. Learn. Sci. Technol.*, 1(4):45024, 2020. doi: 10.1088/2632-2153/ABA947. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/2632-2153/aba947.
- [24] Manzil Zaheer, Satwik Kottur, Siamak Ravanbakhsh, Barnabás Póczos, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Alexander J. Smola. Deep sets. In Isabelle Guyon, Ulrike von Luxburg, Samy Bengio, Hanna M. Wallach, Rob Fergus, S. V. N. Vishwanathan, and Roman Garnett, editors, Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 30: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2017, December 4-9, 2017, Long Beach, CA, USA, pages 3391-3401, 2017. URL https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2017/hash/ f22e4747da1aa27e363d86d40ff442fe-Abstract.html.
- [25] Matthew Tancik, Pratul P. Srinivasan, Ben Mildenhall, Sara Fridovich-Keil, Nithin Raghavan, Utkarsh Singhal, Ravi Ramamoorthi, Jonathan T. Barron, and Ren Ng. Fourier features let networks learn high frequency functions in low dimensional domains. In Hugo Larochelle, Marc'Aurelio Ranzato, Raia Hadsell, Maria-Florina Balcan, and Hsuan-Tien Lin, editors, Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 33: Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems 2020, NeurIPS 2020, December 6-12, 2020, virtual, 2020. URL https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2020/hash/ 55053683268957697aa39fba6f231c68-Abstract.html.
- [26] Samuel Goldman, Jeremy Wohlwend, Martin Stražar, Guy Haroush, Ramnik J Xavier, and Connor W Coley. Annotating metabolite mass spectra with domain-inspired chemical formula transformers. *Nature Machine Intelligence*, 5(9):965–979, 2023. doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/ s42256-023-00708-3.
- [27] Lars Ridder, Justin J. J. van der Hooft, and Stefan Verhoeven. Automatic compound annotation from mass spectrometry data using magma. *Mass Spectrometry*, 3(Special Issue 2):S0033– S0033, 2014. doi: 10.5702/massspectrometry.S0033.
- [28] Jennifer N Wei, David Belanger, Ryan P Adams, and D Sculley. Rapid prediction of electronionization mass spectrometry using neural networks. ACS central science, 5(4):700–708, 2019. doi: 10.1021/acscentsci.9b00085.
- [29] Adamo Young, Fei Wang, David Wishart, Bo Wang, Hannes Röst, and Russ Greiner. FraGNNet: A Deep Probabilistic Model for Mass Spectrum Prediction, April 2024. URL http://arxiv. org/abs/2404.02360.
- [30] Greg Landrum. Rdkit: Open-source cheminformatics, 2022. URL http://www.rdkit.org.
- [31] Joseph L. Durant, Burton A. Leland, Douglas R. Henry, and James G. Nourse. Reoptimization of MDL keys for use in drug discovery. *Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences*, 42(6):1273–1280, 2002. ISSN 0095-2338. doi: 10.1021/ci010132r.
- [32] Keyulu Xu*, Weihua Hu*, Jure Leskovec, and Stefanie Jegelka. How Powerful are Graph Neural Networks? September 2018. URL https://openreview.net/forum?id=ryGs6iA5Km.
- [33] Matthias Fey and Jan E. Lenssen. Fast graph representation learning with PyTorch Geometric. In *ICLR Workshop on Representation Learning on Graphs and Manifolds*, 2019. doi: 10.48550/ arXiv.1903.02428.
- [34] Roman Bushuiev. Self-supervised machine learning for the interpretation of molecular mass spectrometry data. *Master's thesis. Czech Technical University in Prague, Faculty of Information Technology*, 2023. URL https://dspace.cvut.cz/handle/10467/108811? locale-attribute=en.
- [35] Joseph L. Durant, Burton A. Leland, Douglas R. Henry, and James G. Nourse. Reoptimization of mdl keys for use in drug discovery. *Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences*, 42(6):1273–1280, Nov 2002. ISSN 0095-2338. doi: 10.1021/ci010132r. URL https://doi.org/10.1021/ci010132r.

- [36] Shandilya Mahamuni Baira, Srinivas Ragampeta, and M.V.N. Kumar Talluri. A comprehensive study on rearrangement reactions in collision-induced dissociation mass spectrometric fragmentation of protonated diphenyl and phenyl pyridyl ethers. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 33(18):1440–1448, 2019. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm. 8488. URL https://analyticalsciencejournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/rcm.8488.
- [37] Dejan Nikolić and David C. Lankin. Low energy collision-induced dissociation of azepine pictet-spengler adducts of nω-methylserotonin. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, 34(2):182–192, Feb 2023. ISSN 1044-0305. doi: 10.1021/jasms.2c00247. URL https://doi.org/10.1021/jasms.2c00247.
- [38] Kristina Mamko, Liudmila Kalichkina, Oleg Kotelnikov, Anna Nikulina, Natalia Dementeva, and Dmitry Novikov. Separation of cis/trans isomers of 4,5-dihydroxyimidazolidine-2-thione and 4,5-dimethoxyimidazolidine-2-thione by aqueous normal-phase hplc mode. *Chromatographia*, 83(9):1087–1093, Sep 2020. ISSN 1612-1112. doi: 10.1007/s10337-020-03926-8. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s10337-020-03926-8.
- [39] Katarzyna Bus, Jerzy Sitkowski, Wojciech Bocian, Adam Zmysłowski, Karol Ofiara, and Arkadiusz Szterk. Separation of menaquinone-7 geometric isomers by semipreparative highperformance liquid chromatography with silver complexation and identification by nuclear magnetic resonance. *Food Chemistry*, 368:130890, 2022. ISSN 0308-8146. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.130890. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0308814621018963.
- [40] Timnit Gebru, Jamie Morgenstern, Briana Vecchione, Jennifer Wortman Vaughan, Hanna Wallach, Hal Daumé Iii, and Kate Crawford. Datasheets for datasets. *Communications of the* ACM, 64(12):86–92, 2021. doi: 10.1145/3458723.